FIFTH



PEACE & CONFLICT STUDIES





Peace and Conflict Studies

Fifth Edition

Sara Miller McCune founded SAGE Publishing in 1965 to support the dissemination of usable knowledge and educate a global community. SAGE publishes more than 1000 journals and over 800 new books each year, spanning a wide range of subject areas. Our growing selection of library products includes archives, data, case studies and video. SAGE remains majority owned by our founder and after her lifetime will become owned by a charitable trust that secures the company's continued independence.

Los Angeles | London | New Delhi | Singapore | Washington DC | Melbourne

Peace and Conflict Studies

Fifth Edition

David P. Barash *University of Washington*

Charles P. Webel
University of New York in Prague





FOR INFORMATION:

SAGE Publications, Inc. 2455 Teller Road Thousand Oaks, California 91320 E-mail: order@sagepub.com

SAGE Publications Ltd. 1 Oliver's Yard 55 City Road London, EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom

SAGE Publications India Pvt. Ltd. B 1/I 1 Mohan Cooperative Industrial Area Mathura Road, New Delhi 110 044 India

SAGE Publications Asia-Pacific Pte. Ltd. 18 Cross Street #10-10/11/12 China Square Central Singapore 048423 Copyright © 2022 by SAGE Publications, Inc.

All rights reserved. Except as permitted by U.S. copyright law, no part of this work may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

All third-party trademarks referenced or depicted herein are included solely for the purpose of illustration and are the property of their respective owners. Reference to these trademarks in no way indicates any relationship with, or endorsement by, the trademark owner.

Printed in the United States of America

ISBN: 978-1-5443-6905-1

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

Sponsoring Editor: Lara Parra Product Associate: Kenzie Offley Production Editor: Astha Jaiswal Copy Editor: Diana Breti Typesetter: Hurix Digital Cover Designer: Gail Buschman Marketing Manager: Victoria Velasquez

• Brief Contents •

Preface			xxv
PART I	•	THE PROMISE OF PEACE, THE PROBLEMS OF WAR	1
Chapter 1	•	The Meanings of Peace	4
Chapter 2	•	Peace Studies, Peace Education, and Peace Research	16
Chapter 3	•	The Meaning of War	30
Chapter 4	•	Terrorism and Counterterrorism: A War Without End?	68
Chapter 5	•	Nuclear Weapons	96
PART II	•	THE CAUSES OF WARS	129
Chapter 6	•	The Individual Level	134
Chapter 7	•	The Group Level	162
Chapter 8	•	The State Level	196
Chapter 9	•	The Decision-Making Level	222
Chapter 10	•	The Ideological, Social, and Economic Levels	244
PART III	•	BUILDING "NEGATIVE PEACE"	269
Chapter 11	•	Peace Movements	272
Chapter 12	•	Diplomacy, Negotiations, and Conflict Resolution	296
Chapter 13	•	Disarmament and Arms Control	320
Chapter 14	•	International Cooperation	352
Chapter 15	•	Peace Through Strength?	386
Chapter 16	•	International Law	412
Chapter 17	•	Ethical and Religious Perspectives	428
PART IV	•	BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE"	451
Chapter 18	•	Human Rights	454
Chapter 19	•	Environmental Well-Being	486
Chapter 20	•	The Climate Crisis	516
Chapter 21	•	Economic Well-Being	554

About the Authors		755	
Index			687
Chapter 26	•	The Personal and the Political	676
Chapter 25	•	The Coronavirus Pandemic: Catastrophe, Wake-Up Call, or Both?	660
Chapter 24	•	Nonviolence	632
Chapter 23	•	National Reconciliation	616
Chapter 22	•	Democracy	586

• Detailed Contents •

Preface	XXV
PART I • THE PROMISE OF PEACE, THE PROBLEMS OF WAR	1
Chapter 1 • The Meanings of Peace	4
The Meanings of Peace	5
Some Eastern Concepts of Peace	6
Some Judeo-Christian Concepts of Peace	6
Positive and Negative Peace	7
Structural and Cultural Violence	7
Achieving Positive Peace	8
Social Justice	9
The Peace-War Continuum	10
Measuring Peace	11
Defining and Redefining Peace	11
The Global Peace Index	11
The United States	12
Culture of Peace	14
A Final Note on the Meanings of Peace	14
Questions for Further Reflection	14
Suggestions for Further Reading	15
Notes	15
Chapter 2 • Peace Studies, Peace Education, and Peace Research	16
Peace Studies, War Studies, and Peace and Conflict Studies	17
Peace Education	17
The Dimensions of Peace and Conflict Studies	18
Teaching PCS	19
Research in PCS	21
PCS Today	22
Some Contributions of PCS	22
Conflicts Within PCS	23
Criticisms of PCS and Some Responses	25
The Future of PCS	26
A Final Note on Peace and Conflict Studies, Education, and Research	28
Questions for Further Reflection	28
Suggestions for Further Reading	28
Scholarly Journals	29
Notes	29

napter 3 • The Meaning of War	30
Defining War	31
The Frequency and Intensity of Wars	32
Indirect Killing The Waste of War	33 34
Historical Trends in War	35
	37
Modern Weaponry	
Cutting-Edge Military Technologies Nanotechnological Devices	39 39
Hypersonic Missiles, Drones, Robots, and <i>Terminator</i> -Like Weapons	40
Space Technologies	41
Biological and Chemical Weapons	42
Cyberwarfare	43
Has Technology Made War Obsolete?	44
Total War	46
Loosening of Restraints	47
Strategic Bombing	48
Wars, Empires, Colonialism, and National Liberation	49 49
Some Ancient Empires Medieval to Modern Empires	49
Wars and Social Change	50
The Desirability of Peace Versus Justifications for Wars	52
Biological Justifications for Wars	52
Social and Political Justifications for Wars	52
Social Justice and War	53
Political Ideologies and Militarism	54
Some Conservative Viewpoints	54
Some Liberal Viewpoints	56
Some Leftist Viewpoints	58
Asymmetries	60
Is War Inevitable?	60
Can Nations Change?	61 63
Are We Winning the War Against War? The Nature and Functions of Conflict	64
A Final Note on War	
Questions for Further Reflection	64 65
Suggestions for Further Reading	65
Notes	66
apter 4 • Terrorism and Counterterrorism: A War Without End?	68
What Is Terrorism? Who Are Terrorists?	69
The Politics of Terrorism and a Very Brief History	70
A Brief History of Terrorism: From Above and From Below	71
Warfare as Terrorism From Above	72
Homegrown American Terrorists From Below	72
Terrorism and the Middle East	74
Islam	75

	Jihad and Terrorism: Are They Synonymous?	76
	Reestablishing the Sacred Polity	76
	Divisions Within Islam	77
	The Shiites: Partisans of Ali and Opponents of Sunni Traditionalists	77 78
	The Iranian Revolution and Shiite Militancy Islamic Fundamentalists and Terrorists: The Wahhabi Movement, the Muslim	70
	Brotherhood, al-Qaeda, and the Islamic State	78
	Al-Qaeda	79
	ISIL/ISIS	81
	What to Do to Counter Islamic Terrorism Without Escalating the Conflict?	82
	Suicide Terrorism	83
	State and State-Sponsored Terrorism	83
	Terrorism in the Name of God	85
	The Official Terrorism Industry	85
	The Global War on Terrorism	86
	Countering Terrorism From Below	87
	The Victims and Perpetrators of Global Terrorism and Counterterrorism	89 91
	How Do Terrorist Groups End? Antiterrorism	91
	A Final Note on Terrorism	94
	Questions for Further Reflection	94
		94
	Suggestions for Further Reading Notes	95
	Notes	73
Cł	napter 5 • Nuclear Weapons	96
	The Nature of Nuclear Weapons	97
	The Effects of Nuclear Weapons	98
	Immediate Effects of Nuclear War	100
	Societal Effects of Nuclear War	101
	Long-Term Consequences of Nuclear War	102
	Delivery Systems	103
	Bombers	103
	Intercontinental Ballistic Missiles Submarine-Launched Ballistic Missiles	104 104
		105
	Strategic Doctrine: Deterrence Skeletons in the Closet of Deterrence	103
	Has Nuclear Deterrence Worked?	110
	Do Nuclear Weapons Convey National Power?	110
	How a Nuclear War Could Start	111
	Nuclear Proliferation	117
	Other Proliferation Problems	121
	Some New Worries	122
	Some Good News	123
	What Might Be Done	125
	A Final Note on Nuclear Weapons	127
	Questions for Further Reflection	127
	Suggestions for Further Reading	127
	Notes	128
	110103	120

PART II • THE CAUSES OF WARS	129
Chapter 6 • The Individual Level	134
Aggression, Drives, and Instincts	135
The Lorenzian Approach	135
Is War in Our Genes?	136
Sociobiology and Evolutionary Psychology	138
Both Nature and Nurture	138
Freudian and Post-Freudian Psychoanalytic Perspectives	139
Innate Depravity?	140
Rational War-Making?	141
Criticisms of Human Nature Theories	142
Social Learning Theories	143
Frustration-Aggression	144
Social Learning and Conditioning	145
Socialization to Aggressiveness	146
Gender, War, and Peace	147
Self-Fulfilling Behaviors Redirected Aggression	149 149
Authoritarian and Machiavellian Personalities	150
Alienation and Totalism	151
Prejudice, Images of the Enemy, and Human Needs	152
Attributions and Projection	152
Dehumanization, Altruism, and Reconciliation	153
The Attractions of War	154
Inhibitions Against War	154
Some Issues in Nuclear Psychology	157
A Final Note on Individual-Level Explanations of Wars	158
Questions for Further Reflection	158
Suggestions for Further Reading	159
Notes	159
Chapter 7 • The Group Level	162
War: Its Early History	163
War and Human Evolution	163
Why Study Premodern and Nontechnological Warfare?	164
Functions of Nontechnological Wars	164
Characteristics of Premodern Wars	165
Alternatives to Traditional, Premodern Warfare	167
Underlying Group Processes	168
Benefits and Costs	168
Deindividuation	169
Dehumanization	170
Brief Conclusion on Premodern and Nontechnological Warfare	170
Nations, States, Ethnic Groups, and Nationalism	171
Nations and States	171
Nationalism	171

	A Brief History of Nationalist Wars	173
	Early Modern European Nationalism	173
	Nationalism in the United States	174
	European Nationalism in the 19th and 20th Centuries	174
	National Liberation and Revolutionary Nationalism	176
	Types of Nationalist Wars	177
	National Independence	177
	National Prestige	178
	Secessionism	179
	International or Transnational Solidarity	180
	Nationalist Threats to States	182
	Racial and Cultural Intolerance	183
	Ethnic and Religious Antagonisms and "Ethnic Cleansing"	183
	Nationalism and the Public Mood	184
	Manipulating Public Opinion by Arousing Public Passions	185
	Nationalism and Political Ideology	186
	World War I: Ideology Loses to Nationalism	186
	Ideology and Nationalism Combined	186
	The Tension Between Peace and Freedom	187
	The Post-World War II International Scene	189
	The Effects of Political Ideology	190
	The Question of "National Character"	191
	A Final Note on Nationalism and Ethnocentrism	192
	Questions for Further Reflection	193
	Suggestions for Further Reading	193
	Notes	194
Cha	pter 8 • The State Level	196
	Defining the State	196
	State Sovereignty	198
	The Price of State Sovereignty	198
	Violations of State Sovereignty	199
	Limitations of State Sovereignty	201
	The State System	202
	The Origins of States and the State System	202
	War and the State System	203
	Alliances Between States	205
	Alliances as a Cause of War	206
	And the Absence of Alliances as a Cause of War	206
	Alliances and the State System	207
	Polarity and Connectedness	208
	Realpolitik and Raisons d'État	208
	Realpolitik and Power	209 210
	Realpolitik and War Realpolitik and Morality	210
	Status Quo Versus Revisionist States	210
	Internal Cohesion	
		213
	Arms Races Peaceful Resolution of Arms Races	214 216

Factors Driving Arms Races	216
Arms Races and War	217
A Final Note on War and States	217
Questions for Further Reflection	218
Suggestions for Further Reading	219
Notes	219
Chapter 9 • The Decision-Making Level	222
The Role of Leaders	222
Strong Leaders	224
Weak Leaders and the Role of "Villains"	225
Crisis Decision Making	228
Small Groups	228
Excluding Bad News	229
Decision-Making Pressures	229
Crisis Management	230
Psychological Effects of Repetitive Crises	231
Crisis in the Nuclear Age	231
Mental Illness in Leaders	232
The Effects of Crises on Rational Decision Making	233
Some Issues Regarding Perception and Cognition	234
Inaccurate Perception of Others	235
Misreading History	236
The Double Standard of Hostility	237
Miscommunication Overconfidence	239 239
Wishful Thinking	240
Negative, but Sometimes Accurate, Perceptions	241
A Final Note on Decision Making	241
Questions for Further Reflection	242
Suggestions for Further Reading	242
Notes	243
Chapter 10 • The Ideological, Social, and Economic Levels	244
Conflicting Ideologies	245
Marxism, Capitalism, and Fascism	245
Ideologies and Wars	246
Capitalism and War	247
Population Pressure and Other Social Stresses	248
War Fatigue or Boredom?	248
Poverty as a Cause of War	249
Poverty and Domestic Unrest	250
Wars and Social Change	251
Poverty as a Restraint on War	252
Imperialism	252
A Brief History of Modern Imperialism	253
Modern Manifestations of Imperialism Neo-Imperialism and Dependency Theory	254 255
1460-Imperiation and Dependency Theory	255

The Military-Industrial Complex	256
Forerunners of the Military-Industrial Complex	256
The Contemporary Military-Industrial Complex	257
The Economic Effects of Wars	259
The Effects of Military Spending	261
Cultural Conflicts and the "Clash of Civilizations"	262
A Final Note on the Complex Causes of War	265
Questions for Further Reflection	266
Suggestions for Further Reading	266
Notes	266
PART III • BUILDING "NEGATIVE PEACE"	269
Chapter 11 • Peace Movements	272
Popular Attitudes Toward Peace	273
Attention, Success, and Failure	273
Historical and Current Perceptions of War	274
Movements: Theory and Practice	275
History and Taxonomy of Peace Movements	276
Early History	276
Secular Peace Movements	277
Peace Movements in Historical Context	278
A Typology of Peace Movements	280
Interconnections Between Peace and Other Social Movements The United States	281 282
Europe	284
Some Internal Debates Within Peace Movements	285
State-Centeredness	285
The Use of Military Force	286
Centralization Versus Grassroots Organization	287
Single-Issue Versus Broader Social Agendas	287
Practicality Versus Idealism	288
Civil Disobedience	289
Some Criticisms of Peace Movements	289
Maintaining the Momentum of Peace Movements	291
A Final Note on Peace Movements	293
Questions for Further Reflection	294
Suggestions for Further Reading	294
Notes	295
Chapter 12 • Diplomacy, Negotiations, and Conflict Resolution	296
Conflict: A Brief Overview	297
Modes of Conflict Analysis	297
Conflict Outcomes and Solutions Negotiating Solutions to Conflict via Peacemaking	298 298
Summitry	299
A Brief History of Diplomacy	301
A Direct History of Diptorilacy	301

Some Diplomatic Successes in Averting War	302
Some Diplomatic Failures	302
Diplomacy and Military Force	304
Diplomacy and Realpolitik	305
Track II Diplomacy	307
Third-Party Involvement	307
Go-Betweens	308
Mediation and Arbitration	309
Biased Mediation: The 2020 US-brokered Middle East "Peace Plan"	310
Negotiating Techniques for Resolving Conflict	311
Last Best Offer	311
Resolution Versus Dominance	311
Compromise	311
Positional Versus Integrative Bargaining	312
Methods of Integrative Bargaining	313
1. Expanding the Pie	313
2. Nonspecific Compensation	313
3. Logrolling	314
4. Cost Cutting	314
5. Bridging	314
Additional Negotiating Techniques	314
Efficacious Ignoring and Creative Ambiguity	315
Empathy	315
Intermediaries	316
Avoiding Obstacles	316
A Final Note on Conflict Resolution	317
Questions for Further Reflection	317
Suggestions for Further Reading	318
Notes	318
Chapter 13 • Disarmament and Arms Control	320
Different Visions of Disarmament	321
Arms Control and Gun Control	321
Maintenance of National Security Capabilities	321
Selective Disarmament	322
Weapons of Mass Destruction	323
Military Budgets	323
Weapons-Free Zones	324
A Brief History of Disarmament	325
Self-Serving Plans	325
Failed Attempts	326
Modest Successes	327
Arms Control	327
Some Current Agreements	329
Test Ban Treaties	329
Verification	330
Communications Agreements	330
Biological and Chemical Weapons	331
Strategic Nuclear Weapons	331

New START	331
Euromissiles and the INF Treaty	332
Policy Modifications	333
The Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty	334
The ABM Treaty and Star Wars	337
Future Prospects	338
Some Conventional Arms-Control Efforts	340
Exporting Weapons	340
Prohibition of Landmines	341
Pitfalls of Arms Control Agreements	341
Numerical Obsessions	341
Slowness	341
"Leveling Up"	342
The "Balloon Principle"	342
Bargaining Chips	342
Linkage	342
Legitimating Arms Competition	343
False Confidence	343
The Paradox of Small Arsenals	343
Benefits and Methods of Achieving Arms Control Agreements	343
Verification	344
Techniques and Prospects	344
Economic Conversion	345
Challenges	345
Opportunities	346
Conversion Planning GRIT	347 347
A Final Note on Disarmament and Arms Control	347
Questions for Further Reflection	349
Suggestions for Further Reading	350
Notes	350
Chapter 14 • International Cooperation	352
The United Nations	353
From the League of Nations to the United Nations	353
The UN's Basic Structure	354
The UN and the State System	354
Attitudes Toward the UN	355
Peacemaking Efforts	356
The Arab-Israeli Wars	357
Limitations on the UN's Use of Force	358
Ups and Downs of Peacekeeping	359
A Troublesome Example: Darfur	360
Other Functions of the United Nations	361
Third-Party Mediation	361
A Forum for Debate	361
Preventing Major Power Conflicts	362
Constraints on the Use of Force	362
Sancitivity to State Severeignty	343

Functionalism	363
Doing Good	363
Deemphasizing the Role of States	364
The Newfound Folly of Fragmentation	366
Regional Organizations	367
Intergovernmental Organizations	368
NGOs and MNCs	370
World Government?	372
Pre- and Post-Westphalian Worlds	372
An Idea Whose Time Has Come?	373
A Brief History of Plans for World Government	373
Twentieth-Century Proposals for World Government	374
The Clark-Sohn Plan	375
Pros and Cons of World Government	375
The Maintenance of Peace	375
The Danger of Oppression	376
The Dream of World Government: A Waste of Time?	378
The Prospects for World Government	378
A Penchant for Separating?	378
Commitment to States	379
Examples of a Wider Transnational Identity	380
The Uniting of the United States of America: A Rehearsal for	
a Global Federal System?	381
Trans-Governmental Movements	382
A Final Note on International Cooperation	384
Questions for Further Reflection	384
Suggestions for Further Reading	384
Notes	385
Notes	303
Chapter 15 • Peace Through Strength?	386
Balance of Power	387
Hegemons and "Polarity"	388
Problems With Balance of Power	388
Promoting War	389
Slight Imbalances and Their Effects	389
Military Alliances	390
Hegemonic US?	390
The Rise of the BRICS	391
The Case of China	392
Declining US Influence?	393
Collective Security	393
Advantages	393
Disadvantages	394
National Security via Military Force	394
Military Strength and Failure	395
Security Through Superiority?	396
Military Interpretations of National Security and the Security Dilemma	398

Other National Security Considerations	398
Bargaining Chips Revisited	400
Appeasement, Provocation, and Deterrence	401
World Wars I and II	401
Does Deterrence Work?	401
Conventional Deterrence	403
The Use and Abuse of Threats	403
Fear, Stubbornness, and Opportunity	404
The Prisoner's Dilemma	405
Sanctions	406
Nonprovocative Defense	407
How It Might Work	407
A Final Note on Peace Through Strength	409
Questions for Further Reflection	409
Suggestions for Further Reading	410
Notes	410
Chapter 16 • International Law	412
The Sources of International Law	412
Classical Writings	413
Custom	414
Treaties	415
Courts	416
Specific Actions (and Inactions) Within-State Violations	416 417
A Verdict on International Courts	417
Enforcement of International Law	418
The Conflict Between International Law and State Sovereignty	419
Law, Power, and Social Change	420
When Circumstances Change	421
Hidden Strengths of International Law	422
Governmental Respect for Law	422
Tacit Acceptance and Expectation	422
The Laws of War	423
The Nuremberg Principles	423
Military Necessity?	425
A Final Note on International Law	426
Questions for Further Reflection	426
Suggestions for Further Reading	427
Notes	427
Chapter 17 • Ethical and Religious Perspectives	428
A Two-Sided View of Killing	429
Ethics	430
Deontology	430
Utilitarianism and Consequentialism	430
Realpolitik, Just War, and Pacifism	431

War, Ethics, and Religion	432
Presumptions Against War	432
Blaming the Other Side	433
Moral Claims	434
Religious Attitudes Toward War	435
Judaism	435
Islam and Jihad	436
Hinduism, Jainism, and Buddhism	436
Christianity	437
Religious Support for the Status Quo	438
Social Gospels	439
Christian "Realism"	439
The Late Roman Empire	440
The Augustinian View	440
Just War Doctrine	441
Jus ad Bellum	441
Jus in Bello	442
Violations of Noncombatant Immunity	443
Religious Pacifism	444
Nuclear Ethics	445
Ethics and Nuclear Deterrence	446
A Final Note on Ethics and Religion	448
3	
Questions for Further Reflection	448
Questions for Further Reflection	448 448
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes	448 449
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE"	448 449 451
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" hapter 18 • Human Rights	448 449 451 454
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" hapter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights	448 449 451 454 455
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" napter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times	448 449 451 454 455 455
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism	448 449 451 454 455 455 457
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" napter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" napter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Tapter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Tapter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 458 459 460
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups"	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Napter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Tapter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West	448 449 451 454 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 462
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Napter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace Some Human Rights Controversies	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464 465
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace Some Human Rights Controversies Refugees	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464 465 466
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace Some Human Rights Controversies	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464 465
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace Some Human Rights Controversies Refugees LGBT Rights The Legal Status of Human Rights	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464 465 466
Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading Notes ART IV • BUILDING "POSITIVE PEACE" Papter 18 • Human Rights A Brief History of Human Rights Human Rights in Modern Times Liberalism Conservatism Collectivism Choosing the Appropriate Philosophy Individual Liberty Socioeconomic Rights Indigenous People and Other "Peripheral Groups" Women's Rights In the West In Developing Countries Feminism and Peace Some Human Rights Controversies Refugees LGBT Rights	448 449 451 454 455 455 457 458 458 459 460 461 462 462 463 464 465 466

Resistance to Western Intervention	470
The Primacy of State Sovereignty	471
The Role of Politics	472
The Problem of Enforcement	472
Human Rights and the United States	473
Messianic Zeal	474
Traditional National Self-Interest	475
Human Rights and Peace	476
Competing Conceptions of Human Rights	478
The Responsibility to Protect	478
Human Rights Violations Under Authoritarian Regimes Some Examples	480 480
Promoting Human Rights	482
A Final Note on Human Rights	484
Questions for Further Reflection	484
Suggestions for Further Reading	485
Notes	485
Chapter 19 • Environmental Well-Being	486
Enhanced Environmental Awareness	487
From 1980 to the Present	487
The Environment and National Security	488
The Tragedy of the Commons	489
Some Major Environmental Problems	490
Pollution	490
Energy	492
Wood	492
Coal	493
Oil	493
Natural Gas	494
Renewables	494
Ozone Depletion	494
Threats to Tropical Rainforests and to Biodiversity	495
Renewable Resources	498
Forests and Food	498
Acidification	500
Some Environmental Principles	500
Environmental Activism	501
In the United States	501
In Other Countries	502
Struggling for Sustainability	503
Faith in Technology	504
Thresholds	504
Human Perception	505
Interconnections	505
Tensions Between Economics and the Environment Political Ideologies	506 508
Making Environmental Peace and Avoiding Regional Conflicts	508
= = = = = = = = =	500

Resource Wars	509
Environmental Ethics	511
A Final Note on Ecological Well-Being	512
Questions for Further Reflection	513
Suggestions for Further Reading	513
Notes	514
Chapter 20 • The Climate Crisis	516
Causes of Global Climate Change	517
The Carbon Cycle	517
Mechanism of Global Heating	518
Sources of Global Heating	519
The Effects of Greenhouse Gases on Global Heating	524
Some Skeptical Questions Regarding Climate Science and Some Replies to Them	527
Indirect Consequences of Global Heating	532
What Can We Expect in the Future?	535
Obstacles to Action	537
Prospects for Progress	540
The Paris Agreement of 2015	540
Possible Actions and Solutions	542
Technology to the Rescue?	546
Nuclear Power?	548
Climate Change Activism	549
A Final Note on the Climate Crisis	550
Questions for Further Reflection	551
Suggestions for Further Reading	551
Climate Change Websites	552
Chapter 21 • Economic Well-Being	554
The Problem of Poverty	555
A World Poverty Overview	556
Physical and Psychological Effects of Poverty	557
National and Global Inequalities	558
In the Developing World Causes of Poverty	559 560
Government Policies	561
Political Ideology	562
Poverty and War	563
Socioeconomic Development	564
Growth and Modernization	564
Disappointments	564
Globalization	565
Dependencia Theory The Debt Problem	566 567
Ethics, Equity, and a Bit of History	568 571
Hunger	3/1

The Extent of the Problem	571
A Matter of Distribution	572
Measuring Wealth, Poverty, and Income Inequality	572
Population	573
Some Trends in Population Growth	574
The Demographic-Economic-Environmental Trap	577
The Demographic Transition	578
Efforts at Birth Control	579
Reproductive Rights for Women	580
Government Policies	580
Unmet Need for Contraception	581
The Developed Countries	581
Future Directions	582
The Case of Costa Rica	583
A Final Note on Economic Well-Being	583
Questions for Further Reflection	584
Suggestions for Further Reading	584
Chapter 22 • Democracy	586
What Is Democracy?	587
Democracy in the United States	588
Is Democracy Desirable?	589
Participatory Democracy and "Astroturf"	589
Social Democracy	590
A Brief Modern History of Democratization	591
A Series of "Waves"	591
The "Color Revolutions": A Fourth Wave	592
The Arab Spring: A "Fifth Wave" That Largely Failed	594
A Complex Legacy	597
Possible Lessons From the Arab Spring	598
The Occupy Movement	600
The Democracy "Recession"	601
Democracies and Wars	605
Popular Commitment	605
Why Are Democracy-Democracy Wars So Rare?	607
Democracies in Peace Versus War	608
Can Democracy Be Exported? Should It Be?	610
A Final Note on Movements Toward Democracy	612
Questions for Further Reflection	612
Suggestions for Further Reading	613
Notes	613
Chapter 23 • National Reconciliation	616
Altruism, Aggression, and Reconciliation in Nonhuman Primates	617
Truth and Reconciliation Commissions	618
The Case of South Africa	619
The German Postwar Experience	620

Japan's Postwar Response to Its World War II Atrocities	622
Similar Cases	622
Latin America and Elsewhere	623
The Case of the United States	624
The Opposite of Reconciliation	625
TRC Downsides and Caveats	626
Some Conceptual Debates About Truth, Reconciliation, and Justice	627
Alternatives to Reconciliation	628
A Final Note on National Reconciliation	629
Questions for Further Reflection	630
Suggestions for Further Reading	630
Notes	631
Chapter 24 • Nonviolence	632
What Is Nonviolence?	633
Violence	633
Arendt on Violence	634
Nonviolent Peace Theorists and Theories	635
Leo Tolstoy	635
The Dalai Lama	635
Mohandas K. Gandhi	636
Gandhi's Early Years	636
Gandhi's Return to India	636
Satyagraha	638
Gandhian Nonviolence in Theory and Practice	640
Nonviolent Love and Suffering: Ahimsa and Tapasya	640
Nonviolence as an Active Force	641
Ends Versus Means	642
Nonviolence in Practice	642
Nonviolent Actions and Government Reactions Living With and Transforming Violence	643 644
Nonviolence as a Proactive Force	645
Martin Luther King Jr. and the US Civil Rights Movement	645
Some Nonviolent Successes	647
The Developing World	647
Eastern Europe	648
Apparent Failures of Nonviolent Resistance	649
Interstate Examples	650
Civilian-Based Defense	652
Does Nonviolence "Work"? If So, Why?	654
Prospects for Nonviolence	654
A Final Note on Nonviolence	657
Questions for Further Reflection	657
Suggestions for Further Reading	658
Notes	658

/ake-Up Call, or Both?	660
A Bit of History	661
Socioeconomic Inequality	663
Local and Domestic Consequences	665
Possible Origins of the Pandemic and Human/Animal Interdependency	666
More Cooperation or Less?	667
Altered Political Realities, for Better and Worse	668
Science and Public Health	670
A Final Note on the Coronavirus Pandemic	672
Questions for Further Reflection	673
Suggestions for Further Reading	673
Coronavirus Websites	674
hapter 26 • The Personal and the Political	676
Transformations of Self and Society	677
Stumbling Blocks to Personal Transformation and Empowerment	678
Motivating Factors in Personal Transformation	680
The Social Efficacy of Individual Action	681
	683
Toward the Future	/ 0 /
Toward the Future A Final Note on Transformation and the Future	684
	684 684
A Final Note on Transformation and the Future	684
A Final Note on Transformation and the Future Questions for Further Reflection	
A Final Note on Transformation and the Future Questions for Further Reflection Suggestions for Further Reading	684 685

• Preface •

Welcome to the fifth edition of *Peace and Conflict Studies*. Not surprisingly, a lot has happened since we wrote the fourth edition, about five years ago. Although it isn't clear whether the pace of events is quicker now than in the past, it often feels that way.

In any event, it is striking to consider how rapidly the world changes compared to that of any academic discipline: That's why it's called "current events"! Since the fourth edition of this book, the United States of America and Russia have gone from a situation of cautious collaboration to increasingly overt distrust, bordering on another Cold War and including threats of renewed nuclear competition. Somewhat less volatile, but if anything more economically and politically consequential, China has assumed an increasingly prominent international role as the world's second-largest economy, soon to surpass the United States in total gross national product and with an ever more assertive footprint when it comes to world politics generally.

Much of the Arab world went from an exciting time of prodemocracy movements to deep disillusionment, disappointment, and violence. One "terrorist" organization (al-Qaeda) diminished in importance and was replaced by another (ISIS), which has been militarily defeated, at least in Iraq and Syria, but nonetheless remains a potentially potent force worldwide, especially in North Africa, Afghanistan, and other parts of Asia. The Trump administration (2017–2021) engaged in a hyper-nationalistic "go-it-alone" policy that disrupted many of the prior relationships among countries, notably the stability and reliability of Western collaboration, which had previously counted on US support and collaboration. Along the way, numerous assumptions about the stability of global relationships—especially those based on the assumption of US stability—were shattered; their future remains to be seen. Moreover, the global environmental situation has further deteriorated, notably with respect to two crises: climate and the novel coronavirus pandemic that emerged in 2020.

Although this book is directed to a global audience, it will doubtless continue to be especially relevant to students and teachers in the United States in particular and to the English-speaking world and Scandinavia, more generally. Given the many missteps of the recent Trump administration, not the least of which are the incitement of violent mob insurrections—most notably on the US Capitol on January 6, 2021—along with the importance of the United States when it comes to world events, it is critical how the Biden administration deals with the many crises it has inherited: especially those involving the economy, the pandemic, racial justice, social inequities, and climate change. Only the future will reveal whether the extraordinary malfeasance of the Trump administration and the unprecedented threat to American democracy posed by its leader and base were an aberration from the norms and processes of the US system—and whether they will be successfully surmounted.

All things considered, the rate of change sometimes seems so dizzying that it has been hard to keep up, and periodically we wish that we were specialists in such "stable" fields as ancient languages or Baroque harpsichord music.

Fortunately, not all changes have been for the worse. There are encouraging signs of global cooperation when it comes to environmental awareness, including global campaigns to mitigate climate change and the development and distribution of vaccines to fight Covid-19. Millions of people—especially in Asia—enjoy greater prosperity and health than ever before. Global communication and other indications of connectedness have expanded. By some measures, even as world attention has been riveted on specific acts of terrible violence and disunity, our world has actually grown more peaceful, statistically speaking.

At the same time, and fortunately (at least for those who write textbooks and teach about these events and their significance), some things remain unchanged, namely, the historical and philosophical background of world affairs as well as the implications of what has happened, and is happening, and—perhaps—what is likely to take place in the future.

Probably more than any other discipline, peace and conflict studies (the subject) as well as *Peace and Conflict Studies* (the book) are deeply enmeshed in and concerned about that world. You are therefore about to enter an academic discipline but also much more than that. Everyone is welcome; indeed, you are unavoidably engaged in issues of peace and conflict, contentment and dissatisfaction, life and death, whatever your current "course load"! The Russian revolutionary Leon Trotsky once commented that although you might not be interested in war, war is interested in you. So are peace, social justice and injustice, environmental phenomena, and much more.

In the fourth edition of this book, written immediately following the 2016 election of Donald Trump as president of the United States, we added a "Supplementary Preface," in which we analyzed some of the implications of the election and made some tentative predictions. The ensuing four years have, unfortunately, demonstrated that our expectations regarding the Trump administration were, if anything, too measured and "optimistic," although our fear that the United States would engage in one or more gratuitous wars was not realized. We now revisit and supplement what we wrote then, with some reflections regarding the possible "legacy" of Donald Trump and Trumpism.

In November 2020, Joe Biden was elected president of the United States, disappointing the more than 74 million voters who had supported the reelection of Donald J. Trump, while providing welcome relief to most of the American electorate and to much of the rest of the world as well. Biden carried the US Electoral College 306–232 and had the highest popular vote in US history, with more than 81 million and a margin of more than 7 million votes over Trump. The long-term consequences of Biden's victory are unforeseeable, as are the responses of the millions of voters who supported Trump, especially the most violent and seditious fringes. The refusal of Donald Trump, his enablers, and his supporters to accept the clear results of that election not only roiled the US political environment, but it has threatened to undermine the fundamental democratic institutions of the United States, with likely negative consequences for the future—within the United States and abroad because many countries have, until recently, regarded the United States as a model of democratic government. Other notable downsides of the Trump administration include the following:

1. A reversal of climate change policies; withdrawal of the United States from international treaties and accords, most notably the Paris Agreement, as a result of which coordinated efforts to reverse climate change have to some extent faltered worldwide; increased domestic focus on coal, oil,

- and nuclear energy, with decreases in funding and support for alternative sources of energy; and the dilution or elimination of much environmental protection regulation with increasingly grave consequences for water, air, land, and the biosphere domestically and globally.
- 2. The loss of health insurance by about 20 million or more Americans who had obtained coverage from the Obama-sponsored Affordable Care Act, plus the danger of yet more uninsured people; the spread of infectious diseases and epidemics (Covid-19 in particular); and underfunding of the National Institutes of Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute of Mental Health, along with scientific and scholarly research more generally; reduced public acknowledgment of the validity of science as a whole, along with increased distrust of mainstream news reporting: a kind of "truth-decay"; and pressure to reverse gains in reproductive rights, especially for women, including the possible eventual reversal of *Roe v. Wade*, the Supreme Court decision that legalized abortion.
- 3. The deportation of thousands of immigrants and refugees, leading to a significant worsening of the global refugee crisis and to a rise in the number of victims of civil and regional wars; an upsurge in racism, sexism, ultranationalism, jingoism, Islamophobia, violent right-wing extremism, and xenophobia in the United States and in other countries undergoing waves of "populist nationalism," followed by uprisings and violence across the United States; and protests against US policies around the world and a worsening of relations with many other nations, with the exception of Israel and some Persian Gulf States.
- 4. The "packing" of the Supreme Court and other judicial and federal agencies with far-right conservatives who may be seeking to enforce measures protective of corporate and religious fundamentalist interests and to reverse legal protections for women, minorities, the disabled, immigrants, the impoverished, LGBTQ individuals, and the disadvantaged.
- 5. The encouragement of far-right, nativist, nationalist, and neo-fascist political movements within the United States and in other countries, notably in Europe, although possibly elsewhere as well, as in Brazil and the Philippines.
- 6. The disparagement and debasement of longstanding democratic political ideals and practices, including the federal election; and degrading of the office of the US presidency itself, leading to dismay and alarm within the United States and around the world, along with a substantial reduction in the esteem that the United States had previously enjoyed.

To address these disturbing trends, we propose for our readers' consideration the following potential courses of action, individually and collectively, should the legacy of the Trump administration persist after Trump's departure from the White House:

- 1. Remain silent, accept the policies of the new Biden administration, and hope that Trump and his policies will prove to be a singularly disruptive anomaly in the history of the American presidency.
- 2. Have individual conversations and debates about the strengths and weaknesses of the new and previous administrations, supporting

- what one favors and objecting to what one dislikes about its policies, proposals, and actions.
- 3. Join and support the ongoing but thus-far unsuccessful movement to abolish or reform the Electoral College, which was originally set up in large measure to protect Southern slave-owning and rural agricultural interests against Northern urban interests and elites, and replace it with either a national popular vote or the proposed National Popular Vote Interstate Compact, in which each participating state agrees to allocate its electors to the winner of the vote nationwide.
- 4. Become part of a mass domestic and international nonviolent political revolution to resist the legacy of the Trump administration and its policies and to catalyze the new administration to pursue policies supportive of social, racial, and gender equity and justice, both domestically and internally.

As we emphasize throughout this text, peace and conflict studies differs from other branches of scholarship, not merely in the overall richness of its intellectual material but in its commitment to help create a better world and in its overt hope that you, the reader, will undertake your own commitment actively to support this effort.

Toward that end, we have sought to combine our own sociopolitical orientation with informed scholarship, to analyze recent events while not getting mired in short-term issues of the moment, and, where appropriate, to engage in advocacy without sacrificing academic rigor. As is often the case with co-authored books, we are not in complete accord about everything in this book, notably the degree to which academic style and detailed referencing are always suitable for a project of this kind. But we are in agreement about virtually every substantive issue covered in this long book, which is remarkable considering the number and range of topics covered, not to mention the degree to which issues of peace, war, and conflict themselves tend to generate their own opportunities for conflict, even among scholars! We also concur that you, the readers, should reflect on and debate the issues of greatest interest to you, to humanity, and to our shared planet in general.

We encourage feedback in this regard—and, indeed, on anything related to either the style or substance of this book—from students as well as faculty, just as we welcome all of you to this important subject, something as challenging, frustrating, rewarding, and important as anything we can imagine.

David P. Barash University of Washington, Seattle, WA

Charles P. Webel University of New York in Prague, Czech Republic

Acknowledgments

SAGE gratefully acknowledges the contributions of the following reviewers:

Carol Shaw Austad, Central Connecticut State University

Walton Brown-Foster, Central Connecticut State University

Mark Davidheiser, Nova Southeastern University

David Drews, Juniata College

The Promise of Peace, the Problems of War

In the third decade of the 21st century, we are faced with many problems. The Earth is composed of finite resources whose limits may soon be reached. Moreover, global climate change has been ongoing, already resulting in unprecedented catastrophes. Human societies contain gross maldistributions of wealth and power, another problem that has grown worse in recent years, preventing most human beings from realizing their potential and driving millions of people to despair, violent political extremism, and premature death.

Many cultural systems perpetuate regrettable patterns of economic, social, and political injustice in which racism, sexism, homophobia, militarism, ageism, religious intolerance, and other forms of unfairness abound and in which representative government is relatively rare and torture and other forms of oppression are distressingly common. The natural balance upon which all life depends has been increasingly disrupted. Global pandemics are not infrequent. Threats may also include super-intelligent and potentially malicious computers, existential risks of asteroid collisions, super-volcano eruptions, and, especially, thermonuclear war, the risk of which may well be increasing for the first time since the end of the Cold War between the United States and the former Soviet Union. And this is only a partial list.¹

Yet, despite all of these difficulties, the remarkable fact is that enormous sums of money and vast resources of material, time, and energy are expended, not in solving what we might call the "problems of peace" but rather in threatening and actually making war on one another. Although it seems unlikely that human beings will ever achieve anything approaching heaven on Earth, or what the philosopher Immanuel Kant called "Perpetual Peace," it seems reasonable to hope—and perhaps even to demand—that we will someday behave more responsibly and establish a global community based on the needs of the entire planet and the beings who inhabit it, a planetary society that is just and sustainable and not characterized by repeated major outbreaks of violence. Seriously, along with the many problems confronting us, there is also the hopeful reality that to some degree these problems have generated social and political involvement among people increasingly committed to solving them.

This book explores some of the aspirations, needs, prospects, and obstacles involved in achieving a genuinely peaceful world. After opening chapters on

the meanings and measurement of peace, it proceeds to examine war—its causes and prevention. This is one of humanity's most serious challenges because behind the threat of war—especially nuclear and/or biochemical war—lies the prospect that human beings may end their civilization and perhaps all life on Earth.

Part I looks specifically at the promise of peace and the problems of war. Although war and peace are not polar opposites, there is a fundamental tension between them, two differing ways in which people interact. Part II considers war and its apparent causes, and Part III looks at possible routes toward preventing and abolishing war and other forms of collective violence. Part IV turns to deeper aspects of peace, examining our shared dilemmas and considering some solutions, including the creation of positive structures of peace—steps that go beyond just preventing war. Each chapter concludes with some questions for further thought and discussion, along with a few recommended readings; however, because peace and conflict are a moving target, and this book aims to emphasize material with a longer "shelf life," it will go light on transient issues-of-the-moment. This 5th edition of *Peace and Conflict Studies* is intended not just to inform you but also to challenge you, not only intellectually but also in other dimensions of your life, and ideally to inspire you to work toward a better world.



Bloomberg via Getty Images

The Meanings of Peace

War is one of humanity's most pressing problems; peace is almost always preferable to war and, moreover, it can and must include not only the absence of war but the establishment of positive, life-enhancing values, political institutions, and social structures. We know that there is no simple solution to the problem of war. Most aspects of the war-peace dilemma are complex, interconnected, and, even when well understood, difficult to move from theory to practice. On the other hand, much can be gained by exploring the various dimensions of war and peace, including the possibility of achieving a more just and sustainable world—a way of living that can nurture life.

Throughout this book, we maintain that there is good reason for such hope, not simply as an article of faith but based on the realistic premise that human beings are capable of understanding the global situation and recognizing their own species-wide best interests. People can behave rationally, creatively, with compassion, and, over time and with collective good will, can diminish—and, ideally, eliminate—most if not all forms of violence.

Most people think they know what *peace* means, but in fact different people often have very different understandings of this seemingly simple word. And although most would agree that some form of peace—whatever it means—is desirable, there are often vigorous, even violent, disagreements over how to obtain it.

The Meanings of Peace

Peace is surprisingly difficult to define. Like happiness, harmony, justice, and freedom, it is something we often recognize by its absence. Johan Galtung, a founder of peace studies and peace research, has proposed an important distinction between "positive" and "negative" peace. "Positive" peace denotes the presence of many desirable states of mind and society, such as harmony, justice, equity, and so on. "Negative" peace has historically meant the "absence of war." By contrast, positive peace refers to a condition in which exploitation is minimized or eliminated and in which there is neither overt violence nor the more subtle phenomenon of underlying *structural violence*. Positive peace denotes the continuing presence of an equitable and just social order as well as ecological harmony.

Many philosophical, religious, and cultural traditions refer to peace in its positive sense. In Chinese, for example, the word *heping* denotes world peace, or peace among nations, while the words *an* and *mingsi* denote an "inner peace," a tranquil and harmonious state of mind and being akin to a meditative mental state. Other languages also frame peace in its "inner" and "outer" dimensions.

The English language has many terms that refer to peace. In Webster's Third New International Dictionary, for example, peace is initially defined as "freedom from civil clamor and confusion" and also as "a state of public quiet," as well as "a state of mutual concord between governments: absence of hostilities or war." In some cases and some cultures, the word peace even has an undesirable connotation. The Roman writer Tacitus spoke of making a desert and calling it "peace," an unwanted situation of sterility and emptiness. To be pacified, derived from pax, the Latin word for peace, often means to be subdued or lulled into a false and misleading quietude. Indeed, appeasement—buying off a would-be aggressor—has acquired a very bad name. In probably the most notorious example of appearement, former British prime minister Neville Chamberlain appeased Hitler in September 1938, famously declaring as he signed the Munich Agreement, which essentially gave in to all of Hitler's demands: "I believe it is peace for our time." (Less than a year later, Hitler invaded Poland, effectively starting World War II on the European continent.) At the time, however, public opinion had generally supported "appearement," seeing it as a reasonable and far-seeing effort to meet the legitimate needs of an aggrieved party and to do so short of war. Today, appearement stands as a warning to genuinely peace-loving people that even efforts toward peace can backfire if unwisely pursued.

By contrast, even the most peace-loving among us recognize the merits of certain martial and aggressive attitudes, especially when referring to something other than direct military engagements: President Lyndon Johnson's "war on poverty," for example, or the medical "war on cancer," and "battle against AIDS."

Some Eastern Concepts of Peace

The foregoing is not simply a matter of playing with words. Fighting, striving, and engaging in various forms of conflict and combat (especially when they are successful) are widely associated with vigor, courage, and other positive virtues. Nonetheless, it is no exaggeration to claim that peace, along with happiness, may be the most longed-for human condition.

Chinese philosopher Lao Tzu (6th century BCE), founder of Taoism and author of the *Tao Te Ching*, emphasized that military force is not the recommended *Tao*, or "Way." He frequently referred to peaceful images of water or wind—both soft and yielding yet ultimately triumphant over such hard substances as rock or iron. The teachings of Confucius (approximately 551–479 BCE) are often thought by most Westerners to focus on respect for tradition, including elders and ancestors. But Confucius did not hold to these ideas because he valued obedience and order as virtues in themselves; rather, he maintained that the attainment of peace was the ultimate human goal and that it came from social harmony and equilibrium. His best-known collection of writings, the *Analects*, also emphasizes the doctrine of *jen* (empathy), founded on a kind of hierarchical Golden Rule: treat your subordinates as you would like to be treated by your superiors.

The writings of another renowned ancient Chinese philosopher and religious leader, Mo Tzu (468–391 BCE), took a more radical perspective. He argued against war and in favor of all-embracing love as a universal human virtue and the highest earthly goal, yet one that is within the grasp of each of us. Mo Tzu said, "Those who love others will also be loved in return. Do good to others and others will do good to you. Hate people and be hated by them. Hurt them and they will hurt you. What is hard about that?" In what is now India, the Buddhist monarch Ashoka (3rd century BCE) was renowned for abandoning his successful military campaigns in the middle of his career and devoting himself to the religious conversion of his adversaries by nonviolent means.

The great ancient Indian text, the Hindu epic *Mahabharata* (written about 200 BCE), contains as perhaps its most important segment the *Bhagavad Gita*. This is a mythic account of a vicious civil war in which Arjuna, one of the principal warriors, is reluctant to fight because many of his friends and relatives are on the opposing side. Arjuna is ultimately persuaded to engage in combat by the god Krishna, who convinces Arjuna that he must fight, not out of hatred or hope for personal gain but out of selfless duty. Although the *Gita* can be and has been interpreted as supporting caste loyalty and the obligation to kill when bidden to do so by a superior party, it also inspired the great 20th-century Indian leader Mohandas Gandhi as an allegory for the de-emphasis of individual self in the pursuit of higher goals. The *Gita* was also cited by the "father of the atomic bomb," J. Robert Oppenheimer, when he described the first atomic explosion as a contemporary incarnation of Krishna: "I am become Death, the Destroyer of Worlds."

Some Judeo-Christian Concepts of Peace

Peace per se is not prominent in the Old Testament. The God (Yahweh) of Abraham, Moses, and David is frequently portrayed as bellicose, even blood-thirsty, and the ancient Israelites were often merciless warriors. Exceptions exist, however, such as the prophet Isaiah, who praised the reign of peace and described war as a punishment to be inflicted on those who have failed God.

Under the influence of Isaiah and later Hebrew prophets—and despite the ostensibly defensive violence of the Maccabees and Zealots (who opposed Roman rule in the lands now called Israel and Palestine and who have

sometimes been called history's first recorded terrorists)—Jewish tradition has tended to strongly endorse peacefulness. On the other hand, it can also be argued that with the emergence of Israel as a militarily threatened—and threatening—state, this tradition has substantially changed. In fact, Jewish, Christian, and Islamic traditions all have bellicose components and elements in their history. A key question is whether such militarism—often persistent and widespread—is part of a pattern of faithfulness to, or a deviation from, their underlying religious worldview.

A deep irony underlies the concept of peace in these three great Western religious systems. "My peace I give unto you," declares Jesus, according to the New Testament, along with "the peace of God, which passeth all understanding" and the Sermon on the Mount, which famously urges followers to turn the other cheek. Christianity is, in fact, unique among Western religions in the degree to which it was founded upon a message of peace, love, and nonviolence, and yet it gave rise to one of the great warrior traditions. Although definitions of peace often vary and hypocrisy is not infrequent, most people share a positive presumption in favor of peace, in accord with the stated aspirations of most major religions.

Positive and Negative Peace

Let us recall the important distinction between positive and negative peace. Negative peace usually denotes the absence of war. It is a condition in which little, if any, active, organized military violence is taking place. When the noted 20th-century French intellectual Raymond Aron defined peace as a condition of "more or less lasting suspension of rivalry between political units," he was thinking of negative peace.4 Aron's is the most common understanding of peace in the context of conventional political science and international relations, and it epitomizes the so-called realist view that peace is found whenever war or other direct forms of organized state violence are absent. From this perspective, the peace proclamations of Pharaonic Egypt, the Philanthropa, were actually statements of negative peace, expressions of benevolence from a stronger party toward those who were weaker. Similarly, the well-known pax of Roman times indicated little more than the absence of overt organized violence, typically a condition of nonresistance or even acquiescence enforced by local arrangements and the military might of the Roman legions. The negative peace of the Pax Romana was created and maintained, in large measure, through social and political repression of those who lived under Roman law.

An alternative view to this realist (or *Realpolitik*) perspective is one that emphasizes the importance of positive peace and that has been particularly advanced by Norwegian peace researcher Johan Galtung. Positive peace refers to a social condition in which exploitation is minimized or eliminated and in which there is neither overt violence nor the subtle phenomenon of underlying *structural violence*. It denotes the continuing presence of an equitable and just social order as well as ecological harmony.

Structural and Cultural Violence

Violence is usually understood to be physical and readily apparent. But it is important to recognize the existence of other forms of violence that are more indirect and insidious. This structural and cultural violence is typically built into the nature of social, cultural, and economic institutions. For example, both ancient Egypt and imperial Rome practiced slavery and were

highly despotic, although they were technically in states of negative peace for long periods of time.

Structural violence usually has the effect of denying people important rights, such as economic well-being; social, political, and sexual equality; a sense of personal fulfillment and self-worth, and the like. When people starve to death or go hungry, violence is taking place. Similarly, when people suffer from preventable diseases or when they are denied a decent education, affordable housing, freedom of expression and of peaceful assembly, or opportunities to work, play, or raise a family, violence is occurring, even if no bullets are shot or no clubs wielded. A society commits violence against its members when it forcibly stunts their development and undermines their well-being, whether because of religion, ethnicity, gender, age, sexual preference, social class, or some other factor. Structural violence is a form of oppression that can also involve mistreatment of the natural environment. However defined, structural violence is widespread, hurtful, and often unacknowledged.

Under conditions of structural violence, many people who behave as good citizens and who think of themselves as peace loving may, as Galtung puts it, participate in "settings within which individuals may do enormous amounts of harm . . . without ever intending to do so, just performing their regular duties as a job defined in the structure." Analyzing the role of "normal" people, such as Adolf Eichmann, who helped carry out the Holocaust during World War II, philosopher Hannah Arendt referred to the "banality of evil," emphasizing that routine, workaday behavior by otherwise normal, decent people can contribute to mass murder, social oppression, and structural violence.

In contrast with structural violence of starvation, underlying racism, economic impoverishment, and psychological alienation, direct violence generally works faster and is more visible and dramatic. In cases of overt violence, even those people not specifically involved in the conflict may be inclined to take sides. News coverage of these events is often intense, and because the outcome is typically visible and undeniable (e.g., wars, terrorism, as well as acts of domestic repression such as the murder and violent removal of Chinese citizens from Tiananmen Square by Chinese Army troops in 1989), the public is more likely to pay attention to what they can see rather than to the underlying structural but less visible factors that may have led to the conflict.

The concept of *cultural violence* can be seen as a follow-up to the idea of structural violence. Cultural violence is any aspect (often symbolic) of a culture that can be used to legitimize violence in its direct or structural forms. Symbolic violence built into a culture does not kill or maim like direct violence or that built into a social structure. However, it is used to legitimize either or both, as in the Nazi theory of a *Herrenvolk* or superior ("master") race.

Structural and cultural violence are, however, contested concepts. Clearly, they occur wherever there is slavery or gross political, cultural, and/or economic oppression; it remains debatable, on the other hand, whether social inequality constitutes structural violence and whether culture-specific norms and practices can even constitute violence. And what about skewed access to education, jobs, or medical care? Does simple social hierarchy (as, for example, in a family or classroom) constitute structural violence, and do culturally relative forms of life amount to cultural violence?

Achieving Positive Peace

Many cultural and spiritual traditions have identified political and social goals that are closer to positive than negative peace. The ancient Greek

concept of *eireinei* (the related English word is *irenic*) means harmony and justice as well as peace. Similarly, the Arabic *salaam* and the Hebrew *shalom* connote not only the absence of violence but also the presence of well-being, wholeness, and harmony within one's self, a community, and among all nations and peoples. The Sanskrit word *shanti* refers not only to peace but also to spiritual tranquility, an integration of outward and inward modes of being, just as the Chinese *ping* denotes harmony and the achievement of unity from diversity. In Russian, *mir* means peace, a village community, and the world.

Public awareness of negative peace, or the simple absence of war, usually comes about via a diplomatic emphasis on peacekeeping or peace restoring (if war has already broken out). Negative peace is a conservative, statuspreserving goal, as it seeks to keep things the way they are (if a war is not actually taking place), whereas positive peace is more ambitious and bolder, implying the creation of something that, in most cases, does not currently exist.

Moreover, just as there is disagreement about how best to avoid a war—that is, how to achieve negative peace—even among decision makers who may be well intentioned, there is often disagreement about the best routes toward positive peace. Peace in its positive form is more difficult to articulate, and possibly more difficult to achieve, than its negative version. Although there is relatively little current debate about the desired end point in pursuing negative peace (most people agree that war is a bad thing), there is considerable controversy over *how* to prevent (or terminate) specific wars, as well as war generally.

People often disagree about the justification for any particular war. When it comes to positive peace, there is substantial disagreement about goals and the means to achieve them. Some theorists have argued, for example, that only negative peace should be pursued because once defined idealistically as a goal to be achieved, peace becomes something to strive for, even perhaps to the point of going to war! As Quincy Wright, one of the 20th century's preeminent researchers into the causes of war, put it:

Wars have been fought for the sanctity of treaties, for the preservation of law, for the achievement of justice, for the promotion of religion, even to end war and to secure peace. When peace assumes a positive form, therefore, it ceases to be peace. Peace requires that no end should justify violence as a means to its attainment.⁴

Other notable figures have maintained that a free society may justify—or even require—occasional violence. Thomas Jefferson, for example, wrote in 1787 that "the tree of liberty must be refreshed from time to time with the blood of patriots and tyrants." This apparent paradox—violence as a precondition for attaining its alternative—is a recurring theme in the study of and quest for peace.

Supporters of positive peace nonetheless agree that a repressive society, even if it is not at war, should be considered at peace only in a very narrow sense. In addition, a nation at peace that tolerates outbreaks of domestic violence on a widespread level, despite an absence of violent conflicts with other nations, is not really at peace with itself.

Social Justice

Having recognized the importance of positive peace, we now turn to a related notion: social justice. Although almost everyone today agrees that a

just society is desirable, there is often widespread disagreement as to what, exactly, a just society looks like, or how to achieve it. For example, whereas capitalists and individualists tend to privilege economic freedom from state intervention along with individual liberty—often at the cost of mass poverty, malnutrition, and homelessness—socialists and collectivists tend to value economic and social security, sometimes at the price of individual freedoms. Also, many Western individualists assert that nations with capitalist economies and democratic political systems seldom, if ever, go to war with one another, whereas many non-Western and dissident Western critics of capitalism claim that capitalism by its very expansionistic nature is inherently predatory and militaristic, impelling ostensibly democratic nations to invade and occupy undemocratic but economically and/or strategically important countries, usually in the non-Western world.

The Peace-War Continuum

"War is not sharply distinguished from peace," according to Quincy Wright. Moreover,

Progress of war and peace between a pair of states may be represented by a curve: the curve descends toward war as tensions, military preparations, and limited hostilities culminate in total conflict; and it rises toward peace as tensions relax, arms budgets decline, disputes are settled, trade increases, and cooperative activities develop.⁵

Although a quick look at war and peace gives the impression that the two are clearly distinguished, a more detailed examination suggests that war and peace are two ends of a continuum, with only a vague and uncertain transition between the two. But the fact that two things may lack precise boundaries does not mean that they are indistinguishable. Thus, at dawn, night grades almost imperceptibly into day and vice versa at dusk. Yet when two things are very distinct, we say that "they are as different as night and day." The transition from war to peace may often be similarly imprecise (although the move from peace to war may be all too clear and dramatic, as was evident at the beginning of World War II, both in Europe and in the Pacific).

Consider, for example, that the US involvement in Vietnam and much of the rest of Southeast Asia began in the early 1950s with economic and military aid to French forces seeking to retain their colonial possessions. It progressed to include the deployment of relatively small numbers of "technical advisers" in the early 1960s to what was then called South Vietnam. Larger numbers of American "advisers" were then added, accompanied by combat troops in small numbers, followed by limited and eventually massive bombing of all Vietnam (and its neighbors Laos and Cambodia). Finally, even though more than 500,000 American troops were eventually committed to propping up a corrupt and autocratic South Vietnamese government engaged in both a civil war and in hostilities against what was then called North Vietnam, and even though more than 50,000 Americans died as did perhaps more than 2 million Vietnamese, Cambodians, and Laotians, the United States never formally declared war! Yet there was no doubt that a state of war existed.

There is an increasing tendency—especially since the Vietnam War and notably during America's "War on Terror(ism)"—for nations to fight wars without a formal declaration and, similarly, without solemn peace ceremonies or treaties signaling their end. The Korean War, for example, which

began in 1950, was never officially declared and has never technically ended (although there has been a prolonged ceasefire, with rare outbreaks of violence, between North and South Korea over more than a half-century). One of the most destructive wars of the second half of the 20th century, the conflict between Iran and Iraq in the 1980s, was never declared, although it produced casualties that may have numbered in the millions (and Iraq probably used chemical weapons and may have been developing biological weapons). In fact, most of the world's armed conflicts involve revolutionary, counterrevolutionary, genocidal, and/or terrorist violence with no declarations of war whatsoever. Examples include East Timor, Kashmir, Sudan, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, and much of the rest of central Africa; the former Yugoslavia and several independent nations spawned from the former Soviet Union; and El Salvador, Nicaragua, Guatemala, Afghanistan, Angola, Syria, Libya, Yemen, and Cambodia. By the same token, the US-led invasions of Afghanistan and Iraq were not preceded by formal declarations of war and seem unlikely to conclude with official announcements of peace.

The reluctance of most governments to declare war, as opposed to their willingness to fight or promote wars, may also result from the fact that although wars continue to be fought and to break out, most citizens and politicians are not proud of that fact. And despite theoretical arguments over the precise transitions between different stages of conflicts, most people know at a gut level what is meant by war. There is also little doubt that, given the choice, most would prefer peace.

Measuring Peace

Defining and Redefining Peace

The concept of peace remains nonetheless difficult to define. This may partly explain why there have been so few attempts to measure states of peace across nations. Although scholars have made numerous attempts to measure and operationalize "war," it is only recently that similar efforts have been made to measure peace.

The Global Peace Index

Unlike such economic indices as gross national product or unemployment rates, the peacefulness of a country does not readily lend itself to direct measurement. However, the Global Peace Index (GPI), produced by the Institute for Economics and Peace in Sydney, Australia and updated annually, has succeeded in generating a credible assessment.⁶

The GPI offers us the opportunity not only to rank countries with regard to their peacefulness, but—more importantly—to begin assessing what factors correlate with peaceful versus nonpeaceful societies. For example, the 2019 GPI examined 163 countries, comprising more than 99% of the world's population, and used 23 qualitative and quantitative indicators that reflect three broad themes: (1) level of internal safety and security, (2) involvement in domestic or international conflict, and (3) degree of militarization. Measurements used include number of external conflicts, internal conflicts, violent domestic demonstrations, incarceration and murder rates, relations with neighboring countries, and so forth.

According to the 2019 GPI, Europe is the most peaceful region, while the Middle East and North Africa are the least peaceful. The 10 most peaceful

countries are, in order: Iceland, New Zealand, Portugal, Austria, Denmark, Canada, Singapore, Slovenia, Japan, and the Czech Republic. The United States ranks rather poorly—128th out of 163 countries—while the least peaceful country is Afghanistan, closely followed by Syria, South Sudan, Yemen, Iraq, Somalia, Central African Republic, Libya, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Russia, and Pakistan. Democracies consistently have the strongest level of positive peace but represent the minority of countries. Similarly, high-income countries generally rate very highly in the Positive Peace Index. The most militarized country is Israel, followed in turn by Russia, the US, North Korea, and France.

Importantly, peace is becoming more unevenly distributed. While Europe continues its long-term trend of pacification, the Middle East continues its recent tendency for belligerence, further increasing the distance between the most and least peaceful regions and countries. In Europe and in many other developed countries, homicide rates and other forms of interpersonal violence continue to drop and are at historic lows. By contrast, rates of interpersonal violence have climbed in Central America.

The economic impact of violence on the global economy in 2018 was substantial and is estimated at more than \$15 trillion, equivalent to the combined economies of Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, Spain, and the United Kingdom.

The United States

In 2012, the United States was chosen for the first national peace index (Mexico and the UK were subsequently selected, and a second US Peace Index appeared more recently) principally due to the high quality of state-level data, dating back to the early 1980s, and the existence of a large literature of related studies, which estimate the various costs of violence as well as the costs associated with containing it.⁷ The United States performs well on citizen perception of crime within the country and on the low likelihood of violent demonstrations. But as already noted, the United States fares comparatively poorly on the GPI, especially when compared to other highly developed Western-style democracies, mainly due to its involvement in numerous wars, its exceptionally high level of military expenditures, and its civil unrest.

The United States also has a higher rate of violence than most other developed economies, although trends in crime over the past 20 years have fluctuated substantially, for reasons that have been much debated. At the beginning of the 1980s, the US crime rate was comparable to that of other developed nations, after which violence steadily increased to a peak in the mid-1990s and has since been falling. However, this reduction has been accompanied by a steadily *increasing* incarceration rate leading to an unrivaled percentage of its population behind bars—especially people of color—which has significant economic, racial, and social consequences.

Here are some significant findings from the US Peace Index: Compared to most other countries, relatively more data are available for the United States, permitting a more fine-grained analysis:

1. During the last 25 years, there has been a substantial decrease in the rates of homicide and violent crime. (Because of a drumbeat of misinformation, however, due in large part to Trump and his supporters as well as some social media, the majority of Americans mistakenly believe otherwise.) These improvements have been largely offset by increases in the incarceration rate, which, as of year-end 2018,

- stood at 0.7% of resident adults, the highest in the world. Although some political conservatives claim that this is due to the greater effectiveness of US criminal enforcement activities, most experts reject this interpretation and associate the high US incarceration rate with unusually punitive social traditions and the targeting by law enforcement agencies of people of color, especially males.
- 2. The five most peaceful states are Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont, Minnesota, and North Dakota. The Northeast is the most peaceful region in the United States, with all of its states ranking in the top half of the US Peace Index. This includes the heavily populated states of New York, Pennsylvania, and New Jersey. The least peaceful states are Louisiana, Tennessee, Nevada, Florida, and Alabama.
- 3. Peace is linked to opportunity, health, education, and the economy. Statistically significant correlations exist between a state's peacefulness (notably low crime rate) and 15 different social and economic factors, such that higher scores in peacefulness are associated with higher scores in health, education, and economic opportunity, but not with political affiliation.
- 4. The potential economic gains from improvements in peace are significant. Improvements in peace would result in the realization of substantial savings for both governments and society as a whole. If the United States reduced its violence to the same levels as Canada, for example, local governments would collectively save about \$89 billion. For instance, lost productivity from assault and from incarceration constitutes the greatest share of the total cost of violence, so states with high levels of incarceration and assault tend to have a higher per capita cost. The release of "trapped productivity" via a reduction of violence would create a stimulus that could generate an additional 1.7 million new jobs. And the benefit of transferring state and federal expenditures from violence-containment industries (including the military, police, and prison-industrial complex) to more economically productive industries is significant. This can be exemplified by building more new schools than jails and by employing more new teachers than missile designers. Although such efforts would not necessarily generate additional economic activity in themselves, they would create the foundation for a more productive economy. The implementation of such additional economic activity is defined as the "dynamic peace dividend," which can result in a substantial lift in GDP, employment, and quality of life.
- 5. Growing incarceration is a drag on the economy and in recent years has not had a significant effect on violent crime. While homicide and violent crime rates have fallen, the economic benefits to flow from these decreases have been largely offset by the costs associated with the increase in the incarceration rate. In recent years, there has been no statistically meaningful relationship between increases in incarceration rates and decreases in violent crime.
- 6. There is a strong correlation between peacefulness within each state and people's satisfaction with their access to such basic services as clean water, medicine, a safe place to exercise, affordable fruits and vegetables; enough money for food, shelter, and health care; perceptions of safety within one's community, and access to necessary medical care.

Culture of Peace

In 1999, the United Nations (UN) General Assembly launched a program of action to build a "culture of peace" for the world's children, which envisaged working toward a positive peace of justice, tolerance, and plenty. The UN defined a culture of peace as involving values, attitudes, and behaviors that

- · reject violence,
- endeavor to prevent conflicts by addressing root causes, and
- aim at solving problems through dialogue and negotiation.

The UN proposed that such a culture of peace would be furthered by actions promoting education for peace and sustainable development, which it suggested was based on human rights, gender equality, democratic participation, tolerant solidarity, open communication, and international security. However, these links between the concept of peace and its alleged causes were presumed rather than systematically measured. For example, although advocates of liberal peace theory have held that democratic states rarely attack each other, the ongoing wars in Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere demonstrate how some democratic countries can be militant or belligerent—the justification for war often being that peace is ultimately secured through violence or the threat of violence.

A Final Note on the Meanings of Peace

Neither the study nor the pursuit of peace ignores the importance of conflict. Peace and conflict studies does not aim to abolish conflict any more than peace practitioners expect to eliminate rivalry or competition in a world of finite resources and imperfect human conduct. (Analogously, medicine and public health do not realistically seek to eliminate all bacteria or viruses from the world, although they are committed to human betterment by struggling against those that generate diseases.)

Where possible, peace and conflict studies seeks to develop new avenues for cooperation, as well as to reduce violence, especially organized, state-sanctioned violence and the terrorizing violence perpetrated both by and against non-state actors. It is this violence, by any definition the polar opposite of peace, that has so blemished human history and that—with the advent of nuclear weapons, biochemical weapons, and other mechanisms of global destruction—now threatens the future of life on this planet. And it is the horror of such violence, as well as the hope for peace (both negative and positive), that make peace and conflict studies especially frustrating, fascinating, and essential.

Questions for Further Reflection

- 1. Is peace an absolute, or are there degrees of peace, both outer and inner?
- 2. To what extent are peace and war mutually exclusive?
- 3. Under which circumstances, if any, is conflict inescapable and perhaps even desirable?

- 4. Under which circumstances, if any, is violence inescapable and perhaps even desirable?
- 5. Assess the strengths and weaknesses of empirical tools such as the GPI for measuring peace and its absence.

Suggestions for Further Reading

David P. Barash, ed. 2018. *Approaches to Peace: A Reader in Peace Studies,* 4th ed. New York and Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Elise Boulding. 2000. *Cultures of Peace: The Hidden Side of History*. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.

Richard Caplan. 2019. *Measuring Peace*. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.

David Cortright. 2009. *Peace: A History of Movements and Ideas*. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Michael Mandelbaum. 2019. The Rise and Fall of Peace on Earth. New York: Oxford University Press.

Oliver Richmond. 2016. *Peace Formation and Political Order in Conflict Affected Societies*.

New York and Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Oliver Richmond, Sandra Pogodda, and Jasmin Ramovic, eds. 2016. *The Palgrave Handbook* of Disciplinary and Regional Approaches to Peace. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Charles Webel and Jorgen Johansen, eds. 2012. *Peace and Conflict Studies: A Reader.* London and New York: Routledge.

Houston Wood. 2017. *Current Debates in Peace* and Conflict Studies. New York: Oxford University Press.

Nigel J. Young, ed. 2010. *The Oxford International Encyclopedia of Peace*. Four vols. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.

Notes

- For an overview and analysis of existential risks to humanity and the Earth, see Nick Bostrom, ed. 2008. Global Catastrophic Risks. Oxford: Oxford University Press; Toby Ord. 2020. The Precipice Existential Risk and the Future of Humanity. London: Bloomsbury.
- 2. Mo Tzu. 1967. *Basic Writings of Mo Tzu*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- 3. Johan Galtung. 1985. "Twenty-Five Years of Peace Research: Ten Challenges and Responses." *Journal of Peace Research* 22: 141–158.

- 4. Quincy Wright. 1964. *A Study of War.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- 5. Ibid.
- For the Global Peace Index and related documents, including COVID and Peace, see http://www.visionofhumanity.org /gpi-data/
- The 2012 United States Peace Index (USPI) is available at https://www .visionofhumanity.org/maps/us-peace -index/#/



Taylor Hill via Getty Images

Peace Studies, Peace Education, and Peace Research

Peace studies is a child of its time, notably the Cold War and the nuclear era from 1945 to the present. It is a transdisciplinary inquiry that has grown considerably since its birth during the mid-20th century, although its precursors go back to ancient times. On the other hand, the practice of peace education began in the early 20th century, partly in reaction to World War

I. It took off after World War II, as did the earliest peace studies programs at certain colleges and universities.

Similarly, although the origins of peace research date back to religious and ethical traditions across many world cultures and traditions, and the fore-runners of scientific approaches to investigating peace and war emerged out of frustration over the advent of World War I (which was often called "the war no one wanted"), peace and conflict research as a distinct scholarly discipline gained momentum after World War II. It continues to be vibrant today.

Peace Studies, War Studies, and Peace and Conflict Studies

Whereas there have been different approaches to studying peace, contemporary Western peace studies (or *irenology*, from the Greek "Irene," the goddess of peace) focuses on the analysis, prevention, de-escalation, and solution of conflicts by peaceful or nonviolent means, thereby seeking satisfactory outcomes for all parties involved, rather than winners and losers. This is in contrast to traditional international and so-called security studies, which focus on factors leading to victory or defeat in conflicts waged principally by violent means and to the increased or decreased "security" of one—but typically not all—of the parties involved.

Because peace studies investigates the reasons for and outcomes of largeand small-scale conflicts, as well as the preconditions for peace, the discipline is also known as *peace and conflict studies* (PCS). Its focus allows one to examine not only war but also the various forms of violence, including structural violence—notably social oppression, discrimination, exploitation, and marginalization—while also addressing the effects of political, cultural, and physical violence. The rigorous analysis of peace and conflict lends itself, as well, to the assessment and promotion of various peacemaking strategies, in response to growing popular alarm about the many perils facing today's world.

Peace Education

The first organized initiatives in peace education focused on the horrors of war and generated statistics about weapon systems. Today, peace education consists of a wide variety of courses and programs aimed at giving students the tools to reduce violence and oppression. These include nonmilitary strategies for avoiding bullying and increasing citizen empowerment.

According to Betty Reardon, a noted American peace educator,

the general purpose of peace education . . . is the development of an authentic planetary consciousness that will enable us to function as global citizens and to transform the present human condition by changing the social structures and patterns of thought that have created it. ¹

Like her fellow progressive peace educators, Reardon takes "a transformational approach," aiming not only to inform students but also to shift current conventional values, thinking, behaviors, and institutions away from violence and toward nonviolent solutions to interpersonal, social, and political disputes.

Toward this end, The Peace Education Foundation writes and publishes materials for conflict-resolution curricula currently used in more than 20,000 schools worldwide. Peace education is also strongly supported by the UN. Koichiro Matsuura, past director-general of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), has written that peace education is of "fundamental importance to the mission of UNESCO and the United Nations." Peace education has been increasingly integrated with education for democracy; women's rights as well as those of children, indigenous peoples, and LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender) individuals; and human rights more generally, along with nonviolent conflict resolution.

The Israeli peace educator Gavriel Salomon has described some major challenges facing peace educators around the world today, especially those working in zones of ongoing and seemingly intractable conflict such as Israel and Palestine. In addition to political opposition to their programs and severe socioeconomic inequalities in the regions where they operate, peace educators face such challenges as conflicting collective narratives, divergent historical memories, and contradictory beliefs.

To maximize the enduring social impact of peace education, effective programs of peace education should take ethnic and social differences into account and combine general dispositions to peace with specific context-sensitive applications of peace pedagogy and practice. Peace and conflict studies may be viewed, in part, as the dimension of peace education that is present in institutions of higher learning.

The Dimensions of Peace and Conflict Studies

As a scholarly enterprise, PCS is multi- or transdisciplinary, incorporating important theories and research findings from anthropology, sociology, political science, international relations, psychology, biology and zoology, ethics and philosophy, theology, history, and aspects of contemporary neuroscience. Ideally, PCS is also multilevel because it examines inner peace and conflict, as well as peaceful and conflictual relations between individuals, neighbors, ethnic groups, organizations, states, and civilizations (or outer peace and conflict).

Central to peace studies, peace education, and peace research is a concern not just with understanding the world but with changing it. This is a bone of contention for academics who espouse "value neutrality and scientific impartiality," especially by such more conventional disciplines as political science, international relations, and strategic or security studies.

PCS is both normative (or prescriptive) and analytic (or descriptive). As a normative discipline, peace and conflict studies often makes value judgments, such as the assertion—often, the unspoken assumption—that peace and nonviolence are *better* than war and violence. But it makes these judgments both on the basis of ethical postulates (i.e., humans *should* resolve conflicts as nonviolently as possible) and of analytic descriptions (i.e., most violent efforts to resolve conflicts *in fact* result in less social stability than nonviolent means of conflict resolution). Also assumed is that violence is in itself undesirable. Importantly, such value judgments are not unusual in the academic world: medical science values health over disease, literary studies often focus on "classics of literature" rather than on "junk novels," just as art, music, mathematics—indeed, all scholarly enterprises—make value judgments regarding the material they study and teach. Even physical science, which might seem the least overtly value-oriented of disciplines, has

value judgments at its core: prizing honesty, accuracy, replicability of results, correspondence between scientific propositions with the natural world, and the possible falsifiability of truth claims.

Therefore, the normative components of PCS are little different from many other scholarly endeavors. What distinguishes PCS from most academic fields is principally its subject matter—peace, violence, conflict, and power—its inter- (or multi-) disciplinary methodology, and its aim of identifying, testing, and implementing many different strategies for dealing with conflict situations. In addition, of course, its subject matter and recommendations are often controversial and politically fraught, in contrast with the lack of debate over, say, whether cancer and schizophrenia are bad whereas physical and mental health are good.

Peace and conflict studies is both theoretical and applied, including history and concepts as well as "hands-on" experiences when possible. It also focuses not merely on conflict resolution (as crucial as that is in specific cases), but on conflict transformation and reconciliation, thereby aiming to heal old wounds and establish sustainable peace among antagonistic parties.

At the theoretical level, PCS aims to uncover the roots of conflict and cooperation by examining and proposing theoretical models to explain violent and nonviolent individual and collective behaviors, both historically and cross-culturally. By revealing the underlying structures that give rise to human conflict and that support conflict resolution, PCS aims to transform the underlying causes, develop preventive strategies, and teach conflict transformation skills.

Fieldwork is often an important part of peace studies, with students often taking extended internships in conflict zones or with local nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), where they can learn and apply dialogue, negotiation, and mediation skills. The fruits of peace studies may sometimes be difficult to see and take long to come to fruition, but given that human beings have been engaging in violent conflict for thousands of years, it is unrealistic to expect enduring solutions in months or even years. At the same time, the dangers and sheer horror of recent history combined with worries about the future lend a sense of urgency to the practical necessity for peaceful and—no less important—sustainable change.

Peace and conflict studies also aspires to be multicultural and cosmopolitan, in part citing the lives and works of Gandhi and Martin Luther King, Jr. as paragons. However, true multiculturalism and cosmopolitanism remain more an aspiration than a reality for the field because most peace studies programs and centers are located in the West (although their influence is increasing elsewhere, particularly in Asia).

Peace and conflict studies is both a pedagogical activity, in which teachers and learners come together to understand the roots of peace and conflict, and a research enterprise, in which researchers propose rigorous theories and methods for formulating and testing hypotheses about the sources of conflict and the institutionalization of lasting cultures of peace. In the process, researchers also interact with peace and antiwar activists and political movements engaged in "peace work" because the goal is not just to study but also to achieve peace.

Teaching PCS

Everyday citizens, teachers, and students have long been motivated by an interest in peace. American student interest in what is today considered peace studies first appeared in the form of campus clubs at US colleges in the years immediately following the Civil War. Similar movements appeared in Sweden at the end of the 19th century and elsewhere in Europe soon after. These were usually student-originated discussion groups, not formal courses included in college and university curricula.

Because of its destructiveness, World War I, or "The War to End All Wars," was a turning point in many Western attitudes to war. When the leaders of France, Britain, and the United States (led by Georges Clemenceau, David Lloyd George, and Woodrow Wilson, respectively) met to sign the Treaty of Paris in 1919 and to decide the postwar future of Europe, President Wilson proposed his famous Fourteen Points for peacemaking, which included breaking up European empires into nation-states and establishing a League of Nations. The failures of both these aspirations contributed, paradoxically, to heighten focus on how international peace could be established and maintained. As a result, PCS gradually emerged as an academic discipline.

Peace studies was initiated by scholars who were intentionally separating themselves from the older, more established discipline of international relations (or IR, whose first professorial chair was established in 1919 at Aberystwyth University in Wales). IR is still seen by many peace studies professionals, including the distinguished scholar-activist Elise Boulding, as principally devoted to maintaining a Eurocentric, pro-establishment orientation toward "negative" peace, for the world as well as for their discipline. Other peace studies educators have argued that the field of international relations itself was initially developed with a peace studies focus to avoid war and that the disciplines can and should be complementary, albeit in fact they are sometimes competitive. Peace studies started out on most American college campuses within departments emphasizing international relations, which, to many scholars and activists, had reneged on the study and promotion of war avoidance in favor of a self-identified "hard-headed realism."

Just after World War II, many university courses on peace and war were established. The first undergraduate academic program in peace studies in the United States was created in 1948 at Manchester College in Indiana. It was not until the late 1960s in the United States that student and professorial objections to the Vietnam War stimulated more universities to offer courses about peace, whether in an undergraduate major or postgraduate degree program, or as a course within such traditional majors as political science and sociology. In the US, notable peace studies programs were initiated in 1968 at Manhattan College, which is a Catholic school and hence representative of the support for peace studies by many religious institutions of higher education, as well as by the secular Colgate University in 1969. In England, the first school of peace studies was founded in 1973 at Bradford University. By the early 1970s, many North American universities were offering courses about the Vietnam War, with faculty responding to student demands for courses that were "relevant to their own lives."

Growth in peace studies programs accelerated during the 1980s, as students and the general public became increasingly concerned about the prospects of nuclear war. This spurred the creation of a host of new courses and programs aimed at promoting global survival.² Key components of peace studies during this period included courses on violence and war, the nuclear arms race and the threat of nuclear destruction, international conflict, alleged aggressive tendencies in human nature, disarmament, discrimination against minorities, group conflicts, nonviolent action, defense policy, group dynamics, environmental damage, cultural integration, the unequal distribution of wealth, women's roles, Central America, apartheid in South Africa, and structural violence.

With the dissolution of the Soviet Union and the formal end of the Cold War in 1991, the emphasis of peace studies courses at many North American colleges shifted somewhat from international politics to the domestic scene, emphasizing structural, domestic, and civil violence. In 1991, the United States Institute of Peace published Approaches to Peace: An Intellectual Map, which listed the following headings for the study of peace: traditional approaches (collective security and deterrence); international law approaches (international law, interstate organizations, third-party dispute settlement); new approaches (transnationalism, behavioral approaches, conflict resolution); and political systems approaches (internal systems and systemic theories/world systems). Many international organizations, agencies, and NGOs, from the United Nations, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE), the European Union (EU), and the World Bank to the International Crisis Group, International Alert, and others, began to draw on PCS research. By the mid-1990s, peace studies curricula in the United States had somewhat shifted from research and teaching about negative peace to positive peace.

Since the beginning of the new millennium, course offerings in peace studies have expanded to include topics such as north-south relations; development, debt, and global poverty; the environment, population growth, and resource scarcity; feminist perspectives on peace, militarism, and political violence; zones of local peace; ecology and climate change; nonviolent alternatives to terrorism; and in-depth treatments of conflict resolution and transformation.

Research in PCS

Such notable thinkers as Plato, Jesus, Immanuel Kant, Leo Tolstoy, and various Eastern religious leaders long recognized the centrality of peace for inner and outer harmony. But it was not until the 1950s and 1960s that peace studies began to emerge as an academic discipline with its own research tools, a specialized set of concepts, and such forums for discussion as conferences and journals. Peace research institutes were established in Europe in the 1960s, although many of these do not offer formal peace studies courses. Some of the oldest and most prominent peace research centers include PRIO in Oslo, founded in 1959; the Department of Peace and Conflict Research at Uppsala University in Sweden; and the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI). Scholarly journals such as *The Journal of Conflict Resolution* and *The Journal of Peace Research*, begun in the 1950s and 1960s, reflected the growing interest in and academic stature of the field.

In 1963, the Peace Research Society was founded in Sweden. The group of initial members included Walter Isard, Kenneth Boulding, and Anatol Rapoport. In 1973, this group became the Peace Science Society. Peace science was viewed by these academics as an interdisciplinary and international effort to develop a set of theories, techniques, and data to better understand and mitigate conflict. Peace science attempts to use quantitative techniques developed in economics and political science, especially game theory and econometrics, otherwise seldom used by researchers in peace studies. The Peace Science Society website makes available the *Correlates of War*, one of the best-known collections of data on international conflict. The society also publishes two scholarly journals: *The Journal of Conflict Resolution* and *Conflict Management and Peace Science*.

In 1964, the International Peace Research Association (IPRA) was formed at a conference organized by Quakers in Switzerland. The IPRA holds a biennial conference. In 2001, the Peace and Justice Studies Association (PJSA) was

created after the merger of two precursor organizations. It publishes a newsletter (*The Peace Chronicle*); lists programs in peace, justice, and conflict studies; and holds annual conferences on themes related to the organization's mission "to create a just and peaceful world" through research, scholarship, pedagogy, and activism.

PCS Today

The number of universities offering peace and conflict studies courses is hard to estimate because it is often difficult to identify whether a course takes a basically PCS perspective, given that suitable courses may be taught in different departments and have different names.

Of the several hundred North American colleges and universities with peace studies programs, about one-half are in church-related schools, about a third are in large public universities, approximately one-fifth are in nonchurch-related private colleges, and a smaller number are in community colleges. About half of the church-related schools that have peace studies programs are Roman Catholic. Other religious denominations with more than one college or university offering a peace studies program are the Mennonites, Quakers, United Church of Christ, and Church of the Brethren. About 80% of these programs are at the undergraduate level and the rest at the graduate level. Despite the growth in courses related to PCS, only about 10% of North American colleges and universities have both undergraduate and graduate programs, both of which are noticeably absent at elite private universities (such as the US's "Ivy League"), where departments of political science and government hold sway along with programs in security and international studies. By contrast, many elite private colleges offer coursework readily associated with a PCS perspective. Most international PCS programs offer primarily graduate-level degrees, notably including the UN-mandated University for Peace in Costa Rica.

PCS programs and international security and diplomacy research agendas have also become common in institutions located in conflict, post-conflict, and developing countries and regions, for example, the National Peace Council (Sri Lanka), Centre for Human Rights (University of Sarajevo, Bosnia), Chulalongkorn University (Thailand), National University of Timor (Timor-Leste), University of Kabul (Afghanistan), Makerere University (Uganda), Tel Aviv University (Israel), the University of Sierra Leone, and so on.

Until 2017, PCS had mostly shifted its focus from interstate rivalry to intrastate conflict, as well as to problems caused by interpersonal violence. However, because of the Trump administration's hostility to China and Iran, and its appeasement policies toward Russia and North Korea, international conflict is again on the agenda of much contemporary PCS research and teaching. In addition, PCS is also now addressing such hot-button issues as wars, terrorism, trafficking, refugees, treaties, climate change, the pros and cons of nonviolent resistance, and multilateral efforts to curtail war and the arms trade and to promote an ecologically sustainable future.

Some Contributions of PCS

Scholars and others working in peace and conflict studies have made significant contributions to the policies of many NGOs, development agencies, international financial institutions, and the UN system, as well as to human

knowledge more generally. Social scientists and other peace researchers, although still concerned with assessing historical trends in warfare and violence, have also increasingly analyzed the comparative efficacy or failure of violent and nonviolent strategies and tactics of revolutionary and other movements. This represents a shift in interest from conflict management approaches, or a strictly negative peace orientation to conflict resolution, to peacebuilding approaches aimed at positive peace. This shift started at the end of the Cold War and was encapsulated in the report of then–UN secretary-general Boutros Boutros-Ghali, *An Agenda for Peace*.

What has been called *liberal peacebuilding*, or democratic *state-building*, is based largely on the work that has been carried out in this area. The techniques of nonviolence protest and resistance, initially developed by peace researcher Gene Sharp, have been so widely (and sometimes successfully) adopted that Sharp has been called a modern-day godfather of this approach, as it has been practiced in, for example, prodemocracy protests in Russia and Hong Kong. Other notable cases of bringing nonviolent theory to progressive political practice have been the "Arab Spring," the "Occupy Movement," "Extinction Rebellion," the "Umbrella Movement" and its successor in Hong Kong, and such recent other peace and democracy political movements as those in Belarus and Burma (Myanmar).

On a cautionary note, the once-inspiring "Arab Spring" of about a decade ago across North Africa and the Middle East appears to have led to significant democratic progress only in Tunisia, although there are some reasons for cautious optimism in Algeria, Morocco, the UAE, and Jordan as well—in sharp contrast with the restoration of military dictatorship in Egypt and the ongoing catastrophic wars in Syria, Yemen, and Libya.

Liberal peacebuilding or state-building has been successful at times in places as diverse as Cambodia, Colombia, the Balkans, Timor-Leste, Sierra Leone, Liberia, Nepal, Tunisia, and for a while, in Burma/Myanmar, although in all such cases, stability has been fragile and old conflicts (notably between military and civilian sectors) have re-emerged, especially in Burma. Some PCS scholars have advocated an emancipatory form of peacebuilding, based upon an international "responsibility to protect" (R2P), human security, local ownership, and popular participation in democracy-building processes. Ultimately, however, the success or failure of PCS will depend on the impact it has on peace movements, which will ideally include students and teachers of the subject.

Conflicts Within PCS

Not surprisingly, there are disagreements within PCS. Although many PCS observers and critics smile when they hear about conflicts among those studying conflicts, the reality is that just as doctors sometimes get diseases, PCS scholars and practitioners now and then have disputes. (Thus far, however, they have all been resolved nonviolently.)

For example, peace studies is now often referred to as peace and conflict studies, reflecting an integration of both studying peace and understanding conflict. But some leaders in the field believe that by doing so, peace studies risks becoming more like war studies as attention in peace research is devoted to war research and to conflict resolution rather than to building peace and transforming conflicts by peaceful means.

The inclusion of the analysis of (violent) conflict within peace studies has sparked a debate not only with mainstream international relations and its dominant *Realpolitik* orientation but also in the field of peace studies itself.

Most research on large-scale conflicts looks at wars, which have been studied by pioneers such as Lewis Richardson, who developed a series of mathematically sophisticated models, and Quincy Wright, a political scientist best known for his attention to international law as it relates to the causes, effects, and prevention of war.

Some PCS researchers and activists claim that if we could simply persuade people to be more tolerant and open-minded, conflicts would no longer be harmful, or may even disappear altogether. Others focus on how people behave, maintaining that the problem is humanity's use of violent and aggressive means of trying to resolve conflict. And some conflict transformers argue that what matters is that existing social and economic contradictions must be resolved or transcended, that "social justice" is a necessary precondition for the establishment of a durable peace. All three perspectives have some "fundamentalists," but a growing majority of PCS researchers and conflict specialists see the need to include them all.

An old controversy within PCS concerns the relation between inner and outer peace. Should one first strive to achieve peace within one's self or initially try to create greater peace in society at large? Which comes first, healing one's self to gain inner peace, or changing a violent world to gain outer peace? Despite different views, many peace researchers and activists view this as a false dilemma and see the need for both.

Some peace scholars and educators are absolute pacifists, proponents of "principled nonviolence" who oppose use of military force in *all c*ircumstances, but many are not, advocating what is called "strategic nonviolence." People in both camps see themselves as contributing to a body of knowledge and practice that historically has been neglected in favor of the study and practice of war. But peace studies is not antimilitary. Many peace scholars are in conversations with the military, and at least some in the military support peace studies.

As in other social and human sciences, there is considerable debate about methodology within PCS. To get the best understanding of a conflict or a peace movement, should the emphasis be on quantitative or qualitative investigations? At present, the majority of those close to the political science and international relations side tend to use more quantitative methodologies, while the social movement and nonviolent side usually conducts more qualitative analyses.

When initiatives are taken to have new PCS programs at universities, there have often been spirited discussions regarding whether the best way to create a PCS degree is to include PCS in existing fields (like international relations) and within academic disciplinary divisions (like social science) or to set up separate PCS centers. Around the world there is now an expansion of both types. Many academic fields have a theoretical component, PCS included. Good theories are essential for anyone who wants to understand the world. The complexity of conflicts makes it a challenge to have a complete understanding of such multifaceted political realities. As with most human sciences, PCS finds it difficult to do experiments and repeatable tests, so empirical observation and case studies are much needed and highly regarded.

Comparing PCS with meteorology and the early history of public health may help clarify some of the challenges faced by the field. The complexity of weather forecasting is probably similar to the complexity of many conflicts. Meteorologists today are pretty good at predicting a five-day weather forecast. By identifying, measuring, and analyzing the many variables that influence the weather, they are able to forecast the probability of how weather will develop in the near future. However, it is almost impossible to accurately predict the more distant future. Early warning systems for predicting the development of human conflicts face similar or even more difficult challenges. Human beings significantly alter the Earth's climate, especially by causing global warming, but have little influence on day-to-day weather. Natural forces create weather and human behavior creates conflicts. Although both are to some extent predictable, neither is rigidly so.

Understanding human behavior is necessary but not sufficient for students of PCS because it is an ethical and applied social science as well as an analytical one. Like public health professionals who were trying about a century ago simultaneously to forge a disciplinary identity separate from the medical establishment and to scientifically analyze and treat epidemics, contemporary peace scholars, researchers, and students attempt not merely to understand the world but to improve it. But before acting, one must have sufficient knowledge and skills. For a practicing surgeon or a public health worker combating a mass infection, this is obvious. Many soldiers are normally given at least a year of training prior to being sent to a conflict zone, and medical doctors and other public-health workers must also have rigorous training before going into the field. Similarly, peace and conflict workers should be equipped with a comparable toolbox of conflict resolution skills and nonviolent techniques before they intervene in a conflict.

All tools, theories, and kinds of knowledge can be misused. Medical science is a gift to humanity, but it was misused by some doctors in Nazi Germany. Governments and individuals employing tactics of torture often use legally, psychologically, and medically trained personnel to help them be more efficient. Many PCS scholars and activists accordingly feel a need to include a humanitarian ethic in their teaching, research, and politically engaged practices.

Criticisms of PCS and Some Responses

Critics of the field have sometimes claimed that PCS research is diffuse, imprecise, and insufficiently rigorous. Such views have been strongly opposed by scholars who have done interdisciplinary, theoretical, methodological, and empirical research into the causes of violence and dynamics of peace. Others assert that PCS is not objective, is derived from mainly leftist and/or inexpert sources, is not practical, supports certain forms of violence and terrorism rather than rejecting them, or has not led to useful policy developments.

PCS supporters respond that other social and human sciences are also normatively oriented and involve subjective choices; sociology, political science, psychology, and even economics, for example, are not neutral, value-free sciences. They typically value, for example, social stability (in the case of sociology), democracy and freedom (political science), sanity (psychology), and capitalism (economics), just as medicine values health. The sources on which PCS educators and researchers rely are often the same books, journals, and databases as other academic fields and reflect the full range of ideological and political orientations. PCS action proposals are almost entirely nonviolent and antiterrorist in orientation; whether or not these proposals are operationalized, they are neither more nor less practical than those formulated outside PCS.

Furthermore, the development of UN and major donor policies (including the EU, United States, United Kingdom, Japan, Canada, Norway, etc.) in conflict and post-conflict countries has been heavily influenced by PCS. Since roughly the year 2000, a range of key policy statements has been developed by these governments, as have such UN (or UN-related) documents as "Agenda for Peace," "Agenda for Development," "Agenda for Democratization," the "Millennium Development Goals," and the "Responsibility to Protect." PCS research has also been influential in the work of, among others, the United Nations, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the UN Peacebuilding Commission, the UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), the World Bank, the EU, and OSCE.

PCS has also significantly influenced such international NGOs as International Alert, International Crisis Group, Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch, and many local NGOs. And PCS scholars have generated major databases such as "The Correlates of War" project by the Peace Science Society at the University of Michigan, as well as the resources of PRIO in Oslo and SIPRI in Stockholm. Finally, peace and conflict studies debates have generally confirmed, not undermined, a broad global consensus on the importance of human security, human rights, equitable and sustainable economic development, democracy, and the rule of law.

The Future of PCS

The growth of peace studies programs in Canada, the United States, Australia, New Zealand, China, India and the developing world, Western and Central Europe, and elsewhere indicates a concern for the future of life on this planet. Faculty members are using their professional skills to educate students about the causes of war while pointing out concrete alternatives to violent behavior. PCS programs vary considerably as to their scope, content, and structure. More conventional programs that emphasize the study of treaty arrangements, alliance systems, deterrence theories, and the study of war between sovereign nation-states have been complemented by newer programs focusing on sub-national groups and movements that cut across the boundaries of nation-states.

As we move further into the 21st century, there is a danger that many peace studies courses and programs will disappear as faculty and administrators who were attracted to peace studies as a result of the war in Vietnam, the original Cold War between the Soviet Union and the West, and/or the nuclear threat, retire. Many graduate programs produce young scholars committed to peace paradigms who have difficulty finding work at universities that are downsizing and whose faculty and administrators are committed to traditional subject matter and disciplinary boundaries. More conventional academic departments (notably political science and international relations), feeling threatened by large peace studies enrollments and themselves having to cope with fewer institutional resources (which are increasingly devoted to STEM fields—Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics as well as to programs in Business, Economics, and Computer Science/ Information Technology), and often supported by budget-conscious university administrators, sometimes seek to roll back if not terminate peace studies degree programs.

The undergraduate peace and conflict studies major at the University of California at Berkeley, for example, has been "retired," as was the program